Filed 03-15-2023

Page 1 of 32

FILED 03-15-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2022AP800

CITY OF WHITEWATER,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

DOUGLAS E. KOSCH,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM CONVICTIONS ENTERED ON MAY 10, 2022, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH 2, THE HON. DANIEL S. JOHNSON, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

DOUGLAS E. KOSCH, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant 6605 University Avenue, Suite 101 Middleton, Wisconsin 53562 (608) 661-6300

BY: BRENDAN P. DELANY State Bar No. 1113318 brendan@traceywood.com

1

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Did law enforcement have reasonable suspicion to seize Kosch, probable cause to request a preliminary breath test, and probable cause to arrest Kosch without a warrant?

The trial court answered yes.

II. Did the trial court err in denying Kosch's motion to reconsider its ruling that the seizure of Kosch was supported by reasonable suspicion?

The trial court answered no.

III. Is Wisconsin's implied consent statute unconstitutional on it's face, and as applied to the facts of Kosch's case, requiring dismissal of the refusal action?

The trial court answered no.

IV. Were the closing arguments of the Plaintiff at trial sufficiently prejudicial to warrant granting Kosch's motion for mistrial and dismissal with prejudice?

The trial court answered no.

V. Was Kosch's refusal to submit to a breath alcohol test unreasonable?

The trial court answered yes.

Filed 03-15-2023

Page 6 of 32

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Kosch requests publication under Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a). No Wisconsin court to counsel's knowledge has addressed, based on recent Fourth Amendment holdings by the U.S. Supreme Court, whether the rule from *Griffin v. California*¹ is now applicable to Wisconsin's implied consent statute. A published opinion would clarify whether the *Griffin* rule is applicable and whether that rule constitutionally bars the civil penalties and evidentiary consequences imposed by Wisconsin's implied consent statute. As this seems to be the next frontier in implied consent litigation, publication would afford the Court an opportunity to enunciate or clarify a rule of law and decide a case of substantial and continuing public interest.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issue on appeal.

¹ Griffin v. California, 380 U.S. 609, 613–15, 85 S. Ct. 1229, 1232–33, 14 L. Ed. 2d 106 (1965).

Filed 03-15-2023

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 7, 2019, Kosch was pulled over by Officer Jennifer Ludlum of the Whitewater Police Department, in the City of Whitewater, based on a report of a vehicle being involved in an alleged domestic incident.² Kosch performed field sobriety tests (FSTs), declined a preliminary breath test (PBT), was arrested for allegedly operating while under the influence (OWI), whereafter he was read the informing the accused form by Ludlum and declined to submit to a warrantless chemical test of his breath. Kosch was issued a citation for OWI as well as a notice of intent to revoke his operating privileges.³ Kosch demanded a refusal hearing⁴ and the OWI and refusal citations proceeded to a court trial in the Whitewater Municipal Court, on November 11, 2020.⁵ Kosch was found guilty of both citations by the municipal court, and appealed those judgments *de novo* to the Walworth County Circuit Court.⁶ The refusal and OWI citations were consolidated into one case as Walworth County Case Number 2020CV602.⁷

Kosch filed a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment violations, which challenged reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop, probable cause for the PBT, and probable cause to arrest.⁸ An evidentiary hearing was held on Kosch's motion to suppress, on August 3, 2021.⁹ Ludlum testified at this motion hearing as follows: She received a

- ⁴ R. 8:1.
- ⁵ R. 21.
- ⁶ R. 3:1.
- ⁷ R. 28:1–2.
- ⁸ R. 37:1–16.
- ⁹ R. 88:1.

² R. 88:4–5.

³ R. 5:1; R. 7:1.

description of the vehicle (dark colored SUV) from dispatch or another officer, a motel employee pointed a vehicle out to her, and she did not obtain a license plate for the suspect vehicle.¹⁰ She may have lost visual contact with the suspect SUV while running to her police cruiser to follow it, but eventually pulled the SUV over on Milwaukee Street in the parking lot of a ReMax.¹¹ She did not observe the driver of the SUV commit any traffic infractions prior to the traffic stop.¹² Kosch's speech was slurred, Kosch stated that he had consumed two beers, and that based on these observations she had Kosch perform FSTs.¹³ She observed 4 out of 6 clues on the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus (HGN) test, 5 out of 8 clues on the Walk and Turn (WAT) test, and that Kosch put his foot down twice during the One Leg Stand (OLS) test.¹⁴ She acknowledged that FSTs must be administered according to guidelines set by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA), and that deviating from NHTSA guidelines may compromise the accuracy of the FSTs.¹⁵

At the suppression hearing, Ludlum testified that her administration of FSTs to Kosch differed from her NHTSA training in several ways. During the HGN, Kosch was facing a police cruiser with flashing emergency lights at points, was told to tilt his head down, the speed of her checks for equal tracking, lack of smooth, pursuit, and distinct and sustained nystagmus at maximum deviation were substantially quicker than her NHTSA FST training.¹⁶ On the WAT, Ludlum did not instruct Kosch to imagine a straight line,

- ¹³ R. 88:8–8.
- ¹⁴ R. 88:8–11.
- ¹⁵ R. 88:16–17.

¹⁰ R. 88:5.

¹¹ R. 88:13–14.

¹² R. 88:15.

¹⁶ R. 88:16–36.

counted a clue of starting too soon even though she had not yet provided the corresponding instruction, and failed to instruct Kosch to watch his feet or count his steps out loud during the test.¹⁷ On the OLS, Ludlum did not instruct Kosch to keep his legs straight while performing the test.¹⁸ Kosch volunteered that he had diabetes and issues with his back, knees, ankles, and hips after the WAT, and Ludlum only followed up on this information after hearing Kosch mention it.¹⁹ The trial court agreed that the evidence supporting the stop was scant, and that there were deficiencies with the administration of FSTs, but ultimately found reasonable suspicion to support the traffic stop, probable cause to request a PBT, and probable cause to arrest.²⁰

Kosch subsequently filed a motion to reconsider the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress based on reasonable suspicion for the stop,²¹ as well as a motion to suppress and to declare Wisconsin's implied consent statute unconstitutional.²² The Court set a briefing schedule, whereafter both parties submitted their arguments on the constitutional challenge in written form.²³ On March 29, 2022,²⁴ the trial court denied Kosch's motion to reconsider and the motion to declare Wisconsin's implied consent statute unconstitutional, and issued a written order entering this ruling on April 8, 2022.²⁵

¹⁸ R. 88:46–49.

- ²⁰ R. 88:59–70.
- ²¹ R. 44:1–3.
- ²² R. 45:1.
- ²³ R. 47:1.
- ²⁴ R. 90:1–13.
- ²⁵ R. 60:1.

¹⁷ R. 88:16-46.

¹⁹ R. 88:24, 46, 48.

Kosch's case then proceeded to a jury trial on the OWI citation and to a court trial

on the refusal matter.²⁶ The City presented Kosch's refusal to submit to the evidentiary

breath test as evidence at trial, and argued to the jury that it was consciousness of guilt

evidence.²⁷ In the Plaintiff's rebuttal to defense counsel's closing argument, the plaintiff's

attorney made the following closing argument to the jury:

The defense is suggesting that you should find the defendant not guilty, but you have to look at what that entails. OWIs are a huge problem in our state and our country, causing injuries and deaths every single year. Officer Ludlum did a fantastic job investigating this situation and ultimately placing the defendant, Douglas Kosch, under arrest for operating while under the influence. Enforcement of operating under the influence is not complete until those who violate those laws are found guilty. Therefore, I'm asking you – I'm asking that you complete that process and find the defendant, Douglas Kosch, guilty of operating under the influence.²⁸

Immediately after closing arguments, defense counsel requested a sidebar and

objected to the plaintiff's closing arguments.²⁹ After the sidebar, the trial court provided

included the following in its closing instructions to the jury:³⁰

I'm simply going to preface my remarks by simply saying that these jury instructions are important and obviously the laws in our state are important. It's important that you consider this case only based on the laws that exist in our state and not based on any emotion. Regardless of whether we do or do not have an OWI problem or -- in this state or in this county, that's not something you should or can consider in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant here today. You're to look solely at the facts of this case and ultimately make findings regarding what you believe the facts are, apply the law that I'm going to give you to those facts in these instructions and then base your verdict solely on the facts and the law as you find -- the law as I give to you....

It is your duty to follow all of these instructions. Regardless of any opinion you may have about what the law is or ought to be, you must base your verdict on the law I give you in these instructions. Apply that law to the facts in the case which have been properly proven by the evidence. Consider only the evidence received during this trial and the law as given to you by these instructions and from these alone, guided by your soundest reason and best judgment, reach your verdict. . . .

Remarks of the attorneys are not evidence. If the remarks suggested certain facts not in evidence, disregard the suggestion. Consider carefully the closing arguments of the attorneys, but their arguments and conclusions and opinions are not evidence. Draw your own conclusions from the

²⁶ R. 91:1; R. 92:2.

²⁷ R. 92:152.

²⁸ R. 92:158–159.

²⁹ R. 92:159.

³⁰ R. 92:159–165.

evidence, and decide upon your verdict according to the evidence, under the instructions given you by the court.

Following these jury instructions defense counsel placed the objections to the plaintiff's closing argument on the record and the court addressed what additional curative instructions might be necessary.³¹ Defense counsel moved for a mistrial and dismissal with prejudice, on the grounds that the remarks commented on matters which were not in evidence, appealed to the jurors passions and sympathies, asked the jurors to assume the role of law enforcement, and that they were unfairly prejudicial.32 The trial court acknowledged that some of the arguments made by the plaintiff's attorney were "problematic," that the argument that OWI enforcement is not complete until a finding of guilt was "an improper argument," "an appeal to emotion," and that the court was "troubled" by the City's statements in closing.³³ However, the trial court held that it provided curative instructions sufficient to mitigate any prejudice caused by the remarks, and denied Kosch's motions for mistrial and dismissal with prejudice.³⁴ Defense counsel suggested additional curative instructions specifically dealing with the plaintiff's argument that the jury should assume the role of law enforcement, but the trial court disagreed with defense counsel's characterization of those closing remarks and no additional instructions specifically tailored to the objection were given.³⁵

³¹ R. 92:174–177.

³² R. 92:172–174.

³³ R. 92:175–177.

³⁴ R. 92:177.

³⁵ R. 92:170–179.

Kosch was found guilty of the OWI by the jury, and Kosch's refusal was found to be unreasonable by the trial court.³⁶ The court ordered that Kosch's license be revoked for a period of months, that he pay forfeiture and costs on the OWI citation, and that he be subject to an ignition interlock order on the refusal citation.³⁷ A written order imposing the aforementioned penalties was signed and entered by the trial court on May 10, 2022.³⁸ Kosch now appeals the denial of his motion to suppress, motion to reconsider, constitutional challenge to the implied consent statute, the finding that his refusal was unreasonable, and the trial court's denial of his motion for mistrial.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING KOSCH'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS AND MOTION TO RECONSIDER

An order granting or denying a suppression motion presents a question of constitutional fact.³⁹ This is a mixed question of law and fact where challenges to the circuit court's findings of historical fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard, and courts review independently the application of those facts to constitutional principles."⁴⁰ To prevail on a motion for reconsideration, the movant must present either newly discovered evidence or establish a manifest error of law or fact.⁴¹

³⁶ R. 92:147, 182.

³⁷ R. 92:187.

³⁸ R. 75:1.

³⁹ *State v. Howes*, 2017 WI 18, ¶17, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812.

⁴⁰ *State v. Abbott*, 2020 WI App 25, ¶ 10, 392 Wis. 2d 232, 242, 944 N.W.2d 8, 13. *State v. Scull*, 2015 WI 22, ¶ 16, 361 Wis. 2d 288, 298, 862 N.W.2d 562, 566.

⁴¹ *Koepsell's Olde Popcorn Wagons, Inc. v. Koepsell's Festival Popcorn Wagons, Ltd.*, 2004 WI App 129, ¶ 44, 275 Wis. 2d 397, 416, 685 N.W.2d 853, 862.

To conduct an investigative stop, the police must have "reasonable, articulable suspicion that criminal activity is afoot."⁴² Reasonable suspicion must be founded on concrete, particularized facts warranting suspicion of a specific individual, not " 'inchoate and unparticularized suspicion[s] or hunch[es].'⁴³ Courts assess reasonable suspicion in light of the totality of the circumstances.⁴⁴ The Supreme Court of Wisconsin has used the following factors in this determination: (1) the particularity of the description of the offender or the vehicle in which he fled; (2) the size of the area in which the offender might be found, as indicated by such facts as the elapsed time since the crime occurred; (3) the number of persons about in that area; (4) the known or probable direction of the offender's flight; (5) observed activity by the particular person stopped; and (6) knowledge or suspicion that the person or vehicle stopped has been involved in other criminality of the type presently under investigation.⁴⁵

The evidence presented at the hearing was that Ludlum: (1) responded to a complaint at a motel for a "domestic incident between a male and a female," (2) that police were looking for a vehicle that was possibly leaving the area and that she observed the suspect vehicle leaving the area, (3) police dispatch or another officer provided a description of the suspect vehicle she had observed, and a motel employee pointed out a dark colored SUV in the parking lot.⁴⁶ Ludlum followed the vehicle, observing no traffic

 ⁴² State v. Richey, 2022 WI 106, ¶ 9, 405 Wis. 2d 132, 139 (citing Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123, 120 S.Ct. 673, 145 L.Ed.2d 570 (2000)).

⁴³ *Id*.

⁴⁴ Id.

⁴⁵ *State v. Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 676–77, 407 N.W.2d 548, 554 (1987).

⁴⁶ R. 88:5, 13–15.

violations, and pulled it over.⁴⁷ No evidence was presented by the City at the hearing regarding the make, model, or license plate of the suspect vehicle or whether the police description of the suspect vehicle matched the motel employee's description. No evidence was presented at the hearing regarding whether the suspect was a male or female, what the suspect looked like, who reported the alleged incident to police, or what allegations formed the basis of the reported "domestic incident."

In situations where the plaintiff is relying on the collective knowledge of others to justify an officer's traffic stop, the plaintiff must prove the collective knowledge that supports the stop.⁴⁸ In *State v. Pickens*, the Court of Appeals held that this burden cannot be met by only providing the testimony of one officer that they relied on the unspecified knowledge of other officers.⁴⁹ Here, the City relied on the collective knowledge of other members of law enforcement that there was an unspecified "domestic incident" as the sole justification for the stop, as Ludlum did not testify to observing any unlawful behavior by Kosch before stopping him. These conclusory assertions did not set forth any specific articulable facts for the court to apply the reasonable suspicion standard at the motion hearing. In *Pickens*, an officer testified to placing the defendant in handcuffs during an investigatory detention based on his prior observation of a police bulletin stating that the defendant was a suspect in a shooting incident.⁵⁰ The allegations at the motion hearing in Kosch's case were comparatively far less suspicious as the shooting allegations in *Pickens*,

⁴⁷ R. 88:5, 13–15.

⁴⁸ *State v. Pickens*, 2010 WI App 5, ¶ 13, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 235, 779 N.W.2d 1, 5.

⁴⁹ Id.

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 232.

at a minimum, described the unlawful conduct the defendant was suspected of whereas the allegations at Kosch's motion hearing did not. As in *Pickens*, collective knowledge of only conclusory allegations that a particular vehicle is associated with an unspecified "domestic incident," is not sufficient to support reasonable suspicion of any illegal behavior.⁵¹

To request a PBT, law enforcement must have "probable cause to believe" that the driver has committed an impaired driving offense.⁵² The term "probable cause to believe," required to request a PBT, has been interpreted by the Wisconsin Supreme Court to require a lower standard of probable cause than the degree of probable cause required for a warrantless arrest.⁵³ Warrantless arrests are unlawful unless they are supported by probable cause.⁵⁴ Probable cause to arrest refers to that quantum of evidence within the officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest that would lead a reasonable law enforcement officer to believe that the defendant had committed an impaired driving offense.⁵⁵ In determining whether probable cause exists, courts examine the totality of the circumstances and consider whether the officer had "facts and circumstances within his or her knowledge sufficient to warrant a reasonable person to conclude that the defendant . . . committed or [was] in the process of committing an offense.³⁶

⁵¹ *Id.* at 235 ("Such testimony provides no basis for the court to assess the validity of the police suspicion—it contains no specific, articulable facts to which the court can apply the reasonable suspicion standard."). ⁵² *Cntv. of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis. 2d 293, 309, 603 N.W.2d 541, 548–49 (1999).

⁵³ Id. 320–321 (J. Abrahamson concurring).

⁵⁴ State v. Blatterman, 2015 WI 46, ¶ 33–35, 362 Wis. 2d 138, 164, 864 N.W.2d 26, 38.

⁵⁵ Id.

⁵⁶ Id.

Based on Ludlum's deficient administration of FSTs to Kosch, the trial court should not have given any evidentiary weight to the field sobriety test results.⁵⁷ Accordingly, the trial court's findings that 2 out of the 6 clues could be properly considered on the HGN, as well as the entirety of the WAT and OLS, were clearly erroneous. With Ludlum's SFST observations accorded no evidentiary weight, there was not probable cause to believe that Kosch had committed any impaired driving offense, rendering the PBT request unlawful.⁵⁸

Further, Wisconsin case law which permits the use of PBT refusals to justify warrantless arrests is superseded by longstanding U.S. Supreme Court case law, as well as case law from the Supreme Court of Wisconsin, that a refusal to cooperate with a police investigation cannot be used to support a search or seizure decision.⁵⁹ Therefore, the trial court's consideration of the PBT refusal as consciousness of guilt evidence was also clearly erroneous. With the FST observations and PBT refusal excluded, probable cause to arrest did not exist under the totality of the circumstances. Therefore, the trial court erred in denying Kosch's motion to suppress and motion to reconsider its holding that the traffic

⁵⁷ See City of W. Bend v. Wilkens, 2005 WI App 36, ¶¶ 22–24, 278 Wis. 2d 643, 654–55, 693 N.W.2d 324, 329–30 (deficiencies in administration of FSTs affects the weight of the evidence).

⁵⁸ See **Renz**, 231 Wis. 2d at 314.

⁵⁹ *Fla. v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 437, 111 S. Ct. 2382, 2387–88, 115 L. Ed. 2d 389 (1991) ("[A] refusal to cooperate, without more, does not furnish the minimal level of objective justification needed for a detention or seizure."); *I.N.S. v. Delgado*, 466 U.S. 210, 216–17, 104 S. Ct. 1758, 1762–63, 80 L. Ed. 2d 247 (1984) ("But if the persons refuses to answer and the police take additional steps . . . to obtain an answer, then the Fourth Amendment imposes some minimal level of objective justification to validate the detention or seizure."); *Fla. v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 498, 103 S. Ct. 1319, 1324, 75 L. Ed. 2d 229 (1983) ("He may not be detained even momentarily without reasonable, objective grounds for doing so; and his refusal to listen or answer does not, without more, furnish those grounds."); *State v. Griffith*, 2000 WI 72, ¶ 52, 236 Wis. 2d 48, 69, 613 N.W.2d 72, 82 (citing *Bostick*, 501 U.S. at 437) ("His refusal to answer also would not have given rise to any reasonable suspicion of wrongdoing.").

stop was supported by reasonable suspicion. This Court should reverse those orders and remand the matter with instructions to grant those motions.

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