FILED
06-26-2023
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Appeal No. 2022AP800

CITY OF WHITEWATER,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

DOUGLAS E. KOSCH,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM CONVICTIONS ENTERED ON MAY 10, 2022, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, BRANCH 2, THE HON. DANIEL S. JOHNSON, PRESIDING

Respectfully submitted,

CITY OF WHITEWATER, Plaintiff-Respondent

HARRISON, WILLIAMS & MCDONELL LLP Attorneys for the City of Whitewater 522 W. Main St., Whitewater, WI 53190 262-473-7900

BY: JONATHAN K. MCDONELL State Bar No. 1103196 jm@hmattys.com

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

Kosch's argument suggests that the court of appeals in *Levanduski* ignored *Griffin* v. *California*, a United States Supreme Court case decided 58 years ago, when deciding *Levanduski*. The court should reject that suggestion. However, if the court does consider that the issue needs to be decided, this court should hold that the *Griffin* decision does not provides a basis for finding Wisconsin's implied consent statute unconstitutional for the reasons stated in *Levanduski*.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING KOSCH'S MOTION FOR A MISTRIAL BASED ON ALLEGEDLY IMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENTS BY THE PLAINTIFF

A. THE PROSECUTIONS COMMENTS WERE NOT IMPROPER

It is the plaintiff's position that the prosecutor's statements were not improper, rather they were general comments suggesting how important the Jury's role is in society and how important it is for operating under the influence law to be enforced. Attorneys are entitled to significant latitude in closing arguments to the jury. *State v. Wolf*, 171 Wis.2d 161, 167, 491 N.W.2d 498 (Ct App. 1992). Attorneys may appeal to the experience and common sense of jurors in closing arguments and jurors are instructed to use their common sense and experience in deciding cases. Wis. JI – Civil 215 (credibility of witnesses; weight of evidence).

In the case of *State* v. *Mader*, (Wis. App 2023) No. 2022AP382-CR (June 7, 2023), which is recommended for publication and is cited for persuasive value in case it is not published, a defendant argued that he should be given a new trial due to ineffective attorney assistance at trial because among other things his attorney did not object to the prosecution's reference to the prevalence of sexual assault in the community as reflected by juror's responses during voir dire was a reason to find a witnesses testimony credible. The court held that that the prosecutor's comments in his closing argument were proper, stating "Attorneys are accorded "considerable latitude in closing arguments." State v. Burns, 2011 WI 22, ¶48, 332 Wis.2d 730, 798 N.W.2d 166. A "prosecutor may 'comment on the evidence, detail the evidence, argue from it to a conclusion and state that the evidence convinces him and should convince the jurors." State v. Draize, 88 Wis.2d 445, 454, 276 N.W.2d 784 (1979) (quoting Embry v. State, 46 Wis.2d 151, 160, 174 N.W.2d 521 (1970)). However, a prosecutor crosses "[t]he line between permissible and impermissible argument" when "suggest[ing] that the jury should arrive at a verdict by considering factors other than the evidence." State v. Neuser, 191 Wis.2d 131, 136, 528

Case 2022AP000800 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-26-2023 Page 17 of 25

N.W.2d 49 (Ct. App. 1995). The State's comments did not amount to a request that the jury find Mader guilty based on matters not in evidence. Instead, the State simply asked the jurors, in evaluating Beverly's credibility, to consider their experience and knowledge of sexual assault and delayed reporting. We have previously declined to consider similar references to matters within jurors' experience improper. See State v. Nielsen, 2001 WI.App. 192, ¶¶47, 50, 247 Wis.2d 466, 634 N.W.2d 325 (holding that prosecutor's reference to reactions of "[c]itizens out on the street ... when questioned as to why didn't you report [an assault] right away" in closing argument was not improper because it merely "appealed to the jurors to use their common experience and general knowledge of the average person's reaction to frightening events"). State v. Mader (Wis. App. 2023).

The plaintiff's attorney did not suggest that the jury assume the role of a police officer, rather plaintiff's counsel asked the jury to do exactly what jurors are instructed to do, which is to find the defendant guilty if the proof showed he was guilty. "Law enforcement" is a broad phrase that fairly encompasses the concept that a jury finding a defendant guilty if the proof showed he was guilty is enforcing the law.

Here, the prosecutors comments about the effect of the jury's decision are similar to those made by the prosecutor in *State* v. *Camacho*, 501 N.W.2d 380, 176 Wis.2d 860 (Wis. 1993). In *Camacho*, a prosecutor argued that if the Jury were to find the defendant not guilty it would in effect mean the arresting deputy should have been charged and put on trial. The Supreme Court ruled that the argument was not improper. *Camacho* 176 Wis.2d at 886.

B. IF THIS COURT FINDS THAT THE PROSECUTOR'S STATEMENTS IN HIS CLOSING ARGUMENT WERE IMPROPER, THE COURT SHOULD FIND THAT JUDGE JOHNSON DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A MISTRIAL

A motion for mistrial for improper statements in closing arguments is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed unless there is clear evidence that the court erroneously exercised its discretion, and the defendant is prejudiced. Case 2022AP000800 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-26-2023 Page 18 of 25

Camacho 176 Wis.2d at 886. The court must determine whether the remarks "so infected the trial with unfairness that as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." State v. Wolft, 171 Wis.2d 161, 167, 491 N.W2d 498, 501 (Ct.App. 1992). Whether the prosecutor's statements affected the fairness of the trial is to be determined by reviewing the statements in context. State v. Neuser, 191 Wis.2d 131, 136, 528 N.W.2d 49 (Ct.App 1995). In engaging in this exercise, the court must consider the character of the remarks in their proper context, any admonition the court made to the jury, the strength of the evidence apart from the contested remarks, and all other factors which may be relevant in determining the effect of the statements to the jury. State v. Spring, 48 Wis.2d 333, 339-40, 179 N.W.2d 841 (1970). Unless there are reasons to conclude otherwise, the reviewing court will presume that a jury acted in accord with properly given admonitory instructions. State v. Pitsch, 124 Wis.2d 628, 645, 369 N.W.2d (1985). Even if the prosecutor's statements during closing arguments are improper, reversal is not warranted if there is sufficient evidence of guilt independent of the remarks to justify the conviction. State v. Dimaggio, 49 Wis.2d 565, 579-80, 182 N.W.2d 466, 475 (1971).

Judge Johnson addressed the prosecutor's closing argument statements by the following curative instruction:

I'm simply going to preface my remarks by simply saying that these jury instructions are important and obviously the laws in our state are important. It's important that you consider this case only based on the laws that exist in our state and not based on any emotion. Regardless of whether we do or do not have an OWI problem or -- in this state or in this county, that's not something you should or can consider in determining the guilt or innocence of the defendant here today. You're to look solely at the facts of this case and ultimately make findings regarding what you believe the facts are, apply the law that I'm going to give you to those facts in these instructions and then base your verdict solely on the facts and the law as you find -- the law as I give to you...

It is your duty to follow all of these instructions. Regardless of any opinion you may have about what the law is or ought to be, you must base your verdict on the law I give you in these instructions. Apply that law to the facts in the case which have been properly proven by the evidence. Consider only the evidence received during this trial and the law as given to you by these instructions and from these alone, guided by your soundest reason and best judgment, reach your verdict...

Remarks of the attorneys are not evidence. If the remarks suggested certain facts not in evidence, disregard the suggestion. Consider carefully the closing arguments of the attorneys, but their arguments and conclusions and opinions are not evidence. Draw your own conclusions from

Case 2022AP000800 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-26-2023 Page 19 of 25

the evidence, and decide upon your verdict according to the evidence, under the instructions given you by the court. *R.92: 159-165*

If the prosecutor's comments were improper, this instruction as well as the other standard instructions given to the jury, clearly cured any prejudice to the defendant's case and assured that he received a fair trial. The finding of guilt made by the jury was clearly strongly supported by the evidence in the record showing that the defendant was guilty of the OWI charge. This included:

- (1) The defendant had slurred speech. *R.*88: 7.
- (2) The defendant admitted he had been drinking beer. R.88: 7.
- (3) The standardized field sobriety tests indicated that the defendant was impaired. *R.88: 8-10.*
- (4) The defendant refused to submit to a chemical test for intoxication. R.92: 152.
- (5) Ludlum's opinion that she believed Kosch was under the influence of intoxicants. *R.88: 11*.

It is clear that the defendant would have been found guilty of operating under the influence regardless of any improper comments by the prosecutor. The prosecution presented a strong case for the City and there was almost no evidence in the record that would support a finding that Kosch was not under the influence.

Also, even if the prosecutor's statement should not have been made because they were not based on evidence in the record, the comments about OWI being a dangerous life threatening offense were true and thus should be taken into account in the analysis. The Supreme Court of the United States has made similar comments in decisions. See *Missouri* v. *McNeely*, 133 S.Ct. 1552 at 1565 (2013) plurality where the Supreme Court stated "drunk driving continues to exact a terrible toll on our society."

V. LUDLUM'S STOP OF KOSCH'S VEHICLE WAS ALSO VALID BECAUSE SHE HAD REASON TO CHECK ON THE OCCUPANTS BASED ON HER COMMUNITY CARETAKER FUNCTION

Even if Ludlum did not have a reasonable suspicion to stop the vehicle, the stop was valid because it clearly was within the scope of her community caretaker function. Police may conduct a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment without probable

Case 2022AP000800 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-26-2023 Page 20 of 25

cause or reasonable suspicion "provided that the seizure based on the community caretaker function is reasonable." State v. Truax, 2009 WI APP 60, ¶9, 318 Wis.2d 113, 767 N.W.2d 369. A seizure is justified based on the community caretaker exception if two requirements are met: (1) The police activity must be a "bona fide community caretaker activity", and; (2) The public need and interest must outweigh the intrusion upon the privacy of the individual. State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, 21, 315 Wis.2d 414, 769 N.W.2d 598. The *Kramer* court (which includes an excellent discussion of the community caretaker function) held that a community caretaker function is bona fide when, under the totality of the circumstances, an objectively reasonable basis for the community caretaker function is shown, and "that determination is not negated by the officer's subjective concerns." Id. at 30-32. The court will determine whether an officer's community caretaker function was reasonable by "balancing a public interest or need that is furthered by the officer's conduct against the degree of and nature of the restriction upon the liberty interest of the citizen." Id. ¶40. In balancing these interests, the court considers the following factors: (1) The degree of public interest and the exigency of the situation; (2) the attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed; (3) whether an automobile is involved; and (4) the availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished. *Id.* at ¶41.

Here, a report of a domestic incident suggests the possibility of domestic violence. Investigating possible domestic violence is clearly an important community caretaker function of the police. The intrusion caused by Ludlum stopping the Kosch vehicle to check to see if everything was okay was a minimal disruption that potentially would have taken a few minutes if there had been no problems. All the factors the court should consider that support that Ludlum's actions were reasonable.

(1) Degree of public interest and exigency of the situation.

The public has a great interest in quick police intervention in domestic incidents. It can prevent a minor argument from spiraling into domestic violence.

Case 2022AP000800 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-26-2023 Page 21 of 25

(2) The attendant circumstances surrounding the seizure, including time, location, the degree of overt authority and force displayed.

Here, the late time of day, the 911 call and the report of a domestic incident support the decision of officer Ludlum to take the minimal action of stopping a vehicle to check on the occupants.

(3) Whether an automobile is involved.

Stopping an automobile is far less intrusive than entering a residence and therefore supports the minimal intrusion of stopping the car by Ludlum.

(4) The availability, feasibility and effectiveness of alternatives to the type of intrusion actually accomplished.

Here, there was no effective alternative to stopping the vehicle. It had begun to drive away and the only option Ludlum had was to stop it to check on the occupants.

It is important to recognize that Wisconsin Courts have found police seizure based on the community caretaker function valid under much less important public interest considerations. In *Brier* v. *State*, 76 Wis.2d 457, 251 N.W.2d 461 (1977), The Supreme Court held that a police officer's actions of looking into a garage was justified under his community caretaker function of investigating a noise complaint. *Id.* at 461. In *Kramer*, the court held that it was appropriate for an officer to make a stop of a vehicle legally parked on the side of the road with its flashers activated to check on the occupants. *Kramer* at 46. In *State* v. *Ziedonis*, 707 N.W.2d 565, 2005 WI APP 249, 287, Wis.2d 831 (Wis. 2005), the court held that police were justified, based on the community caretaker function, in entering a home based on facts arising from a loose Rottweiler dog complaint. *Ziedonis* at ¶34.

The Supreme Court of South Dakota, in a case with strikingly similar facts to this case, held that an officer was authorized to stop a vehicle based on his community caretaker function. In *State* v. *Short Bull*, 928 N.W.2d 473 (2019), a police dispatcher received a call from a hotel indicating that there was domestic dispute at the hotel. A police officer was

Case 2022AP000800 Brief of Respondent Filed 06-26-2023 Page 22 of 25

dispatched to the hotel and was told a vehicle that was involved was in the hotel parking lot. The officer stopped the vehicle in the lot and determined that the driver appeared to be under the influence. After further investigation the driver was placed under arrest for OWI. The driver filed a motion to suppress that challenged the legality of the stop. The court did not decide the reasonable suspicion issue because the defendant did not properly present it, however, the court decided that the stop by the officer was justified under his community caretaker function. The court stated "applying these principles here, we conclude that officer Hold was acting in his community caretaker roll when he stopped Short Bull's vehicle in the hotel parking lot. The information relayed to him described a potentially dangerous situation. The dispatcher advised officer Holt of a "disturbance" at the hotel, which he could reasonably infer was a domestic disturbance involving a couple. Domestic disputes can, in some instances, escalate into violent confrontations involving injury or death to one or both parties. See *United States* v. *Rodriguez*, 601 F.3d 402, 408 (5th Cir. 2010) ("[D]omestic disputes often involve high emotions and can quickly escalate to violence") 928 N.W.2d 473 ¶.18.

Kosch may argue that the court should not consider the community caretaker basis for the stop because it was not argued by the City at the trial court level. Because the trial court found that Ludlum had reasonable suspicion basis for the stop on, the City did not need to rely on a community caretaker argument. However, the court of appeals can affirm a circuit court decision on grounds different than those relied on by the trial court. See *Vanstone* v. *Town of Delafield*, 191 Wis.2d 586, 595, 530 N.W.2d 16, 20 (Ct.App.1995).

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING KOSCH'S REFUSAL UNREASONABLE

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